Filed 02-09-2023

Page 1 of 16

FILED 02-09-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appeal No. 2022AP002060-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOHN J. DRACHENBERG,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Wood County, the Honorable Todd P. Wolf, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Christina C. Starner Attorney at Law State Bar No. 1075570

P.O. Box 12705 Green Bay, WI 54307 608-213-2228 starner.law@gmail.com Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

If the search of a computer, pursuant to a search warrant issued under Wis. Stat. § 968.12, is not completed within five days after the date of issuance pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 968.15(1), is the search warrant void under Wis. Stat. § 968.15(2)?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested. However, publication may be warranted, as no published Wisconsin case has expressly defined the term "executed" as it is used in 968.15.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Criminal Complaint

A criminal complaint was filed on April 20, 2021 charging John Drachenberg with seven counts of child exploitation, three counts of possession of child pornography, misdemeanor possession of THC, and possession of drug paraphernalia. (2; App. 101-06) The complaint alleged that on January 25, 2021, the National Center of Missing and Exploited Children (NCMEC) received a tip from the video chat website Omegle.com that a user was broadcasting suspected child pornography to another user. (2:6; App. 106). The IP address was tied to a home where Drachenberg lived. (2:6; App. 106). Pursuant to a search warrant, officers searched the home and a surrounding shed which belonged to Drachenberg. Officers seized several items from the shed, including a desktop computer, smoking devices with burnt marijuana residue, and THC belonging to Drachenberg. (2:6; App. 106; 23; App. 107-124).

The complaint further alleged that upon searching the desktop computer, officers found approximately 272 image files and five video files that were believed to depict child pornography. (2:6; App. 106). Officers also found numerous recordings of video chats that Drachenberg had with other users on Omegle.com between May 2020 and November 2020, in which Drachenberg encouraged prepubescent males to expose their genitals or commit other sexual acts. (2:6; App. 106). The complaint further alleged that three prepubescent males did expose their genitals at Drachenberg's request, which were saved onto the desktop computer. (2:6; App. 106).

Suppression Motions, Hearing, and Circuit Court Ruling

Drachenberg moved to suppress all evidence. (16). Among other arguments, ¹ Drachenberg argued that the search of the computer beyond the five-day deadline violates Wis. Stat. § 968.15 and any evidence obtained after that point must be suppressed. (16:12-13).

A hearing on the suppression motion was held on October 25, 2021. (19). At the hearing, Detective Jason Parks testified to the following: a video chat website named Omegle.com had identified a user on their platform who, during a video chat, streamed a video depicting a young girl engaged in sexual activity. (19:7-8). Omegle reported that they captured four still shots of this video, the IP address of the user, and the model of the webcam that was used to broadcast the video. (19:9-10). Omegle forwarded that information to NCMEC on November 5, 2020. (19:10). NCMEC forwarded the cyber tip to the Wisconsin Department of Justice (DOJ) on

_

¹ Specifically, Drachenberg also argued that: (1) any probable cause was stale by the time the warrant was executed, (2) the warrant did not describe evidence to be seized consistent with the Fourth Amendment particularity requirement, (3) the entry into the home violated the knock and announce requirement, and (4) the search warrant affidavit did not comply with the oath or affirmation requirement. (16). Drachenberg does not pursue these arguments on appeal.

Case 2022AP002060 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-09-2023 Page 6 of 16

November 24, 2020. (19:31). The DOJ then investigated who the IP address belonged to and determined that it was connected to a home address of 405 North Cherry Avenue in Marshfield, Wisconsin. (19:11). On January 25, 2021, this information was passed on to Detective Jason Parks from the DOJ and he was assigned to the investigation. (19:7).

Detective Parks testified that he applied to Wood County Circuit Court Judge Nicholas Brazeau for a search warrant, which was issued on January 29, 2021. (19:21; App. 127). Specifically, the search warrant included authorization for officers to:

- search the premises and property at 405 North Cherry Avenue in Marshfield, including any storage buildings or outbuildings on the property (23:1; App. 107);
- seize any digital devices found and remove them from the location so they may be searched and analyzed at a later date (23:1; App. 107);
- Obtain copies of the contents of the hard drive(s) and contents of any internal or external storage media (23:11; App. 117).

On February 1, 2021, officers searched the home and outbuildings of the property and removed numerous computers and cell phones from the residence and outbuildings. (19:21-22, 28-29; App. 127-28, 134-35; 2:6; App. 106). Some of those digital devices belonged to the other residents as well as Drachenberg's girlfriend. (19:28-29; App. 134-35).

On the property was a shed that family members said belonged to Drachenberg. (2:6; App. 106; 19:80). Officers seized several items from the shed, including a desktop computer, smoking devices with burnt marijuana residue, and THC. (2:6; App. 106; 19:80). Before the officers removed the

Case 2022AP002060 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-09-2023 Page 7 of 16

desktop computer from the shed, they found two programs on it that are common for people who do illegal activity online, but Detective Parks did not testify that any actual images of child pornography were found on the computer before they removed it from the property. (2:6; App. 106; 19:25; App. 131). Detective Parks completed a return of officer document on February 1, 2021, which included an inventory sheet of the items he collected from the home. (19:21; App. 127).

On February 1, 2021, Detective Parks began reviewing the digital devices off the premises. (19:26; App. 132). Since some of those devices belonged to the other residents, Detective Parks went through those first so he could clear them of contraband and return them. (19:28-29; App. 134-35). Starting on February 1, 2021, Detective Parks began the process of making a mirror image of Drachenberg's desktop computer, which involved compressing the files and copying them. (19:28, 48; App. 134, 140). He did not know the exact date that he started actually looking at the images from Drachenberg's desktop computer, but he testified that it would have occurred after February 1, 2021 but before March 29, 2021 and it took several weeks. (19:47-49; App. 139-41). When he did look at the images, he found numerous video files that appeared to be child pornography. (19:29; App. 135).

Following the hearing, both parties filed briefs. (27; 28). In an oral ruling on March 21, 2022, the court denied Drachenberg's suppression motion on all bases. (31; App. 143; 47; App. 144-170). The court stated that the search warrant was executed within the timeframe required by statute, as the return on warrant was dated February 1, 2021. (47:11; App. 144).

Following the court's denial of his suppression motion, Drachenberg pled no contest to one count of possession of child pornography contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m). (40). Dismissed and read in were seven counts of sexual exploitation of a child – filming, one count of possession of child

pornography, one count of possession of THC, and one count of possession of drug paraphernalia. (40). The court sentenced Drachenberg to thirteen years imprisonment, comprised of three years extended supervision and ten years initial confinement (40). This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The search of Drachenberg's computer files was in violation of Wis. Stat. § 968.15 because it was conducted more than five days after the search warrant was issued. As such, the warrant was void at the time of the search and all evidence from the computer must be suppressed.

Wis. Stat. § 968.15 states that "a search warrant must be executed and returned not more than five days after the date of issuance" and that "any search warrant not executed within the [five-day time period] shall be void and shall be returned to the judge issuing it."

The search warrant in the instant case was issued on January 29, 2021. (23; App. 107-124). The warrant contained language authorizing officers to remove any digital devices from Drachenberg's home so that those devices may be "searched and analyzed at a later date." (23:1; App. 107). On February 1, 2021, police seized numerous computers and cell phones from the home, including Drachenberg's desktop computer. Detective Parks completed a report on February 1, 2021 which listed the items that were seized from the home. (19:28; App. 134).

Starting on February 1, 2021, Detective Parks began the process of making a mirror image of Drachenberg's desktop computer, which involved compressing the files and copying them. (19:28, 48; App. 134, 140). Detective Parks did not know the exact date that he started actually looking at the images, but he testified that it would have occurred after February 1, 2021

Case 2022AP002060 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-09-2023 Page 9 of 16

but before March 29, 2021, and that it went on for several weeks (19:47-49; App. 139-41). Detective Parks completed another report on March 29, 2021, in which he reported his findings from the search of Drachenberg's computer files. As detailed in that report, Detective Parks found numerous files on Drachenberg's computer depicting child pornography, as well as video files of children doing sexually explicit activities. (19:29; App. 135; 24).

Statutory interpretation is a question of law subject to de novo review. *State v. Peters*, 2003 WI 88, ¶ 13, 263 Wis. 2d 475, 665 N.W.2d 171. Statutory interpretation begins with the plain language of the statute. *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 663, 681 N.W.2d 110. Statutory language is given its common, ordinary and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning. *Bruno v. Milwaukee County*, 2003 WI 28, ¶¶ 8, 20, 260 Wis. 2d 633, 660 N.W.2d 656. *Kalal*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633.

Starting with the plain language of the statute, the term "execute" is not defined in the Wisconsin statutes. As such, we must apply its common, ordinary and accepted meaning. The verb "to execute" is defined in Merriam-Webster's Dictionary as "to carry out fully: put completely into effect." Merriam-Webster's Dictionary, available at https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/execute (last accessed 2/2/23). It is defined in Black's Law Dictionary as "to perform or complete." *Execute, Black's Law Dictionary* (10th ed. 2014). Therefore, to "execute" a warrant is to complete the orders for search and seizure that are contained within it. Police have "executed" a search warrant when they have fully carried out all the commands and directives in the warrant.

In the instant case, searching and analyzing the computer files at a separate location was explicitly within the

scope of the search warrant. Specifically, the search warrant directed officers to "seize any digital devices found and remove those from the location so that those devices may be searched and analyzed at a later date." (23:1; App. 107). Detective Parks searched the computer files for images of child pornography after February 1 but before March 29. (19:47-49; App. 139-41). Thus, he was executing the search warrant (ie: carrying its directives out) during a span of time lasting several weeks, and he had fully carried it out (ie: executed the search warrant) by March 29. Because the execution of the warrant went beyond the five-day time limit in violation of Wis. Stat. § 968.15(1), the warrant was void and any evidence found in the computer files must be suppressed.

To be clear, Drachenberg is not arguing that the search of his computer violated the Fourth Amendment. The Fourth Amendment does not contain specific requirements about when a search or seizure must occur or the duration of the search. Rather, the Fourth Amendment analysis is guided by the reasonableness of the delay in executing the warrant, and courts have consistently found that some delay in the execution of search warrants involving computers is reasonable under the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Plencner*, 2020 WI App 76, 394 Wis. 2d 839, 953 N.W.2d 99 (unpublished).² (App. 171-187). Drachenberg is arguing that the search violated the time limitations in Wis. Stat. § 968.15, which in turn rendered the warrant void under Wisconsin statutory law.

For their persuasive value, Drachenberg directs this Court to two federal cases that consider a warrant "executed" when the government *completes* its review of the electronic evidence, as well as an unpublished Wisconsin case that cites

-

² *Plencner* meets the criteria for unpublished persuasive authority under Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(b), as it is an authored opinion by a single judge under s. 752.31(2)(e), and it was issued after July 1, 2009. A copy of *Plencner*. is included in the appendix.

Case 2022AP002060 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-09-2023 Page 11 of 16

one of the federal cases and quotes language that supports this definition of execute.

In *United States v. Jarman*, 847 F.3d 259 (5th Cir. 2017), the issue was whether the government violated the Fourth Amendment by taking twenty-three months to finish searching the data from a computer it seized. The Fifth Circuit noted that in the context of a reasonableness analysis under the Fourth Amendment, "[c]ourts have ... consistently permitted some delay in the execution of search warrants involving computers because of the complexity of the search..." 847 F.3d 259, 266 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). Regarding this delay, the Fifth Circuit noted that a delay of several months or even years "between the seizure of electronic evidence and the completion of the government's review of [it] ... is reasonable under the Fourth Amendment." Id. at 267 (emphasis added). Thus, the Fifth Circuit considers the "execution" of the search warrant to include the time period from the seizure of a computer to the completion of its review.

Notably, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals, District II, has quoted this language from *Jarman* that classifies the delay between the seizure of the computer and the government's review of it as a delay in the "execution" of the search warrant. *State v. Plencner*, 2020 WI App 76, ¶ 19, 394 Wis. 2d 839, 953 N.W.2d 99 (unpublished). (App. 171-187).

Additionally, the district court in *United States v. Metter*, 860 F.Supp. 2d 205, 215 (E.D.N.Y. 2012) also considers a warrant executed when the government completes its review of electronic evidence that it has seized. In *Metter*, the search warrant authorized officers to search, copy, image and seize a computer, and to conduct an off-site search of the image or hardware. 860 F. Supp. 2d at 208-09. Pursuant to the search warrant, the government seized computer hard drives, created images of the hard drives, and promptly returned the computer hardware to its owners. *Id.* at 210. However, the

> government delayed searching the imaged evidence at the offsite location by fifteen months. *Id.* at 211. Metter sought suppression of the evidence on the basis that the government's delay in conducting the off-site search of the imaged hard drives was unreasonable and violated the Fourth Amendment. *Id.* The court held that the fifteen-month delay between when officers seized and imaged the computer and when they searched the imaged evidence was unreasonable and in violation of the Fourth Amendment. *Id.* at 212.

> Notably, in its analysis the court stated, "...the Fourth Amendment requires the government to *complete its review*, *i.e.*, *execute the warrant*, within a 'reasonable' period of time") (emphasis added). *Id.* at 215. The court thus considered a warrant executed when the government completes its review of electronic evidence that it seized.

The fact that the warrant on its face contains language authorizing officers to search Drachenberg's computer at a "later date" does not cure the defect; if the "later date" implies a time period of more than five days, then that directive is itself in violation of Wis. Stat. § 968.15 and the warrant cannot override a statutory rule.

An order denying a motion to suppress evidence may be reviewed on appeal notwithstanding a no contest of guilty plea. Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10). When a defendant enters a plea following the circuit court's denial of a suppression motion, and a reviewing court determines that the circuit court erred, the defendant should be allowed to withdraw his plea unless the state can prove that there was no reasonable probability that the court's error contributed to the plea. *State v. Semrau*, 2000 WI App 54, ¶ 36, 233 Wis. 2d 508, 608 N.W.2d 376. Here, the state cannot meet this test because granting suppression of the desktop computer files would have eliminated the state's evidence against Drachenberg to which he pled, and all of his dismissed and read in crimes except for two misdemeanors.

The remedy for a violation of the five-day execution period in Wis. Stat. § 968.15 could not be more clear. The legislature has declared that a warrant that is not executed within that time frame "shall be void." When the directives of the search warrant cannot be fully carried out within five-day statutory time limit, the solution is simple: the officers can get a new warrant. Because the officers did not do so here and searched the computer files beyond the five-day timeline, that evidence must be suppressed.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, for the reasons stated above, Drachenberg respectfully asks this Court to remand with directions to grant suppression of evidence found on Drachenberg's desktop computer and to allow Drachenberg to withdraw his plea.