Filed 03-30-2023

Page 1 of 37

FILED 03-30-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT IV

#### Case No. 2022AP2060-CR

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOHN J. DRACHENBERG,

Defendant-Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WOOD COUNTY, THE HONORABLE TODD P. WOLF, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN D. FLYNN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1096413

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Drachenberg's interpretation of "executed" means that all analysis must be completed within five days after the judge signed the warrant, or else the entire warrant is void. (Drachenberg's Br. 13.) Pennsylvania has explicitly found this interpretation absurd, saying: Appellant's proposed construction, by contrast, would lead to absurd results. Under his interpretation, when authorities obtain a warrant to gather a blood or DNA sample, they must also complete forensic analysis of the DNA or blood within the warrant's two-day time limit, or repeatedly seek new warrants every day until the analysis is complete. Along those lines, any time an initial search resulted in the seizure of such evidence, *e.g.*, fingerprints from a weapon, blood from inside a vehicle, bags of suspected narcotics, or DNA samples from a rape kit, the authorities would have to complete the further analysis of the materials within forty-eight hours of the warrant's issuance.

# *Commonwealth v. Bowens*, 265 A.3d 730, 753–54 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2022).

Drachenberg's reading would end law enforcement's ability to further investigate the seized items, unless that could be done within five days of the issuance of the warrant. And the consequence of continuing to investigate the seized items beyond those five days would result in a void warrant, requiring suppression of all evidence seized—whether it was the subject of the further analysis or not. Or it would require law enforcement to re-apply for a warrant after every five-day time limit until the examination was complete, unreasonably burdening law enforcement and reviewing magistrates.

The only logical reading of Wis. Stat. § 968.15(2) is that "executed" means the carrying out of the search allowed by the warrant. The authorized intrusion into a defendant's rights must begin, if it is to begin at all, within five days of issuance. The identified property must be found and seized within five days after issuance. If the allowed search or seizure does not begin within five days, then the warrant is void, must be returned, and law enforcement must obtain a new warrant that states probable cause. *See* Wis. Stat. § 968.15(2). Drachenberg's interpretation would have broader consequences that further demonstrate its absurdity. Under his reading, the State must have lawfully collected DNA evidence tested by the crime lab within five days, and, in a drunk driving case, have seized blood tested within five days. Otherwise, his reasoning goes, any further analysis of the lawfully seized evidence beyond five days means that the warrant is void because it was not fully "executed" within five days of issuance. Case law says this is not the case. See Maryland v. King, 569 U.S. 435, 464 (2013) (analysis of lawfully collected DNA does not amount to a significant invasion of privacy under the Fourth Amendment); VanLaarhoven, 248 Wis. 2d 881, ¶ 16 (chemical analysis of lawfully seized blood is not a separate search and does not require additional constitutional justification).

# F. In this case, the search warrant was executed and returned promptly, within Wis. Stat. § 968.15(1)'s five-day command.

In this case, law enforcement promptly executed the warrant within five days. Judge Brazeau signed the warrant on January 29, 2021. (R. 19:21.) Three days later, on February 1, 2021, Detective Parks and other officers executed the warrant by going to 405 North Cherry Avenue and seized Drachenberg's computer from the shed. (R. 19:21.) Detective Parks returned the warrant with an inventory of the items seized the same day. (R. 19:21).

The warrant presented to Judge Brazeau contemplated, and Judge Brazeau approved of by signing, that law enforcement would remove listed items and subject them to further analysis. (R. 23:15.) The warrant provided explicitly that "**[t]he Court authorizes those items to be removed from the premises and analyzed at a later time for this purpose**." (R. 23:15 (emphasis in original).) In this case, Detective Parks examined the seized items by "run[ning] software on the computer that looks for images and videos". (R. 19:24.) Or in other words, he used a technological aid to further examine the lawfully seized items and even commenced doing so within five days of the warrant's issuance.

The intrusion into Drachenberg's protected interest began within the time allotted for by Wis. Stat. § 968.15(1). And the return was completed within the same time frame.

\* \* \* \* \*

The plain meaning of "execute" is to intrude into a protected area, perform a search, and seize items. Other sections within Chapter 968 confirm this, as they only make sense if read similarly. Legislative history and prior decisions of this Court confirm that the intent behind Wis. Stat. § 968.15 is to guard against capricious execution of warrants after probable cause had dissipated. Further testing and analysis of seized items is not a separate search and requires no additional constitutional justification, so it therefore does not implicate the execution of a warrant. No other jurisdictions have concluded that "execution" of a warrant includes further analysis; in fact, many support the reading that "execute" means seizing the item and removing it from the property. Requiring all testing and analysis to be done within five days of issuance would be an absurd result because of the burden it would place on law enforcement and the judiciary. Therefore, this Court should affirm the circuit court.

### II. Even if this Court holds that "executed" within section 968.15(1) includes further testing and analysis, suppression is not warranted

Drachenberg assumes without any analysis that suppression is an available remedy and is warranted in this case. (Drachenberg's Br. 13.) The State will show that even if this Court agrees with Drachenberg that the five-day time limit imposed by Wis. Stat. § 968.15 does include further testing and analysis, that does not end the inquiry. Suppression is not warranted when the police action at issue furthered the statute's objectives, and suppression is not warranted unless a defendant's substantial rights are violated. Suppression is not automatic.

A. Suppression is not warranted because the execution of the warrant furthered section 968.15(1)'s objective of executing search warrants before the dissipation of probable cause.

Suppression is a judicially created remedy generally applicable to police action that violates a defendant's constitutional rights. *United States v. Calandra*, 414 U.S. 338, 348 (1974). However, our supreme court has held that a court may suppress evidence based on a violation of a statute when suppression is necessary to achieve the statute's objectives. *Popenhagen*, 309 Wis. 2d 601, ¶ 62. But the use of suppression as a remedy for statutory violations is infrequent.

Popenhagen illustrates the rare situation when suppression may be appropriate for a statutory violation. The case involved a subpoena for bank records under Wis. Stat. § 968.135. That statute requires a showing of probable cause to a neutral magistrate before the issuance of a subpoena for documents. Wis. Stat. § 968.135. In *Popenhagen*, the district attorney asked the circuit court to issue subpoenas for bank records, but did not use the investigatory subpoena process under Wis. Stat. § 968.135 and made no probable cause showing. *Popenhagen*, 309 Wis. 2d 601, ¶¶ 7, 10.<sup>9</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Instead, the district attorney's subpoena request relied on statutes used to secure the appearance of witnesses along with

The supreme court held that suppression was available because having no remedy for noncompliance with Wis. Stat. § 968.135's probable cause requirement would "emasculate the clear directives of" the statute. *Popenhagen*, 309 Wis. 2d 601, ¶ 54. "[U]nless the documents were suppressed as evidence in the present case, the safeguards established by Wis. Stat. § 968.135 for the issuance of subpoenas would be rendered meaningless." *Id.* ¶ 71. Because the suppression remedy is unusual in the statutory context, the court emphasized that a motion to suppress under a statute must be "germane to the [] objectives of" the statute. *Id.* ¶¶ 54, 62.

The supreme court found the objectives underlying Wis. Stat. § 968.135 were "allow[ing] the State to acquire and use documents while also ensuring that the State meets statutory requirements that protect persons affected." Popenhagen, 309 Wis. 2d 601, ¶ 52. The limits found in Wis. Stat. § 968.135 further this objective: 1) only the attorney general or a district attorney may make a request under the statute; 2) the circuit court must rule on the request before issuance of a subpoena; 3) a subpoena can only issue upon a showing of probable cause; and 4) the statute permits motions to the circuit court, including motions to limit or quash the subpoena. Id. ¶ 54. This last element was a key consideration in whether suppression furthered the objectives of Wis. Stat. § 968.135. If the subject of the subpoena has an opportunity to come before the court to prevent or limit the evidence the State may obtain and use, then a defendant's motion to suppress must be allowed because it "is similar in nature." Id. ¶ 51.

Suppression was appropriate in *Popenhagen* because the State completely disregarded section 968.135's

documents in their possession for court proceedings. *State v. Popenhagen*, 2008 WI 55, ¶¶ 8–9, 309 Wis. 2d 601, 749 N.W.2d 611. These statutes do not require a showing of probable cause before issuance. *See* Wis. Stat. §§ 805.07, 885.01.

requirements. The State's failure to submit evidence of probable cause to the court led to the court's failure to make the requisite probable cause findings. *Popenhagen*, 309 Wis. 2d 601, ¶ 98 (Prosser, J., concurring). "[T]his was a subpoena, which at every juncture of the entire process, was defective." *Id.* ¶ 141 (Ziegler, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part). Section 968.135 *requires* a showing of probable cause by the applicant and a finding of probable cause by the circuit court, but neither happened. *Id.* ¶ 7.

As discussed above, *supra* sec. I.B, the aim of Wis. Stat. § 968.15 is to prevent warrants from being delayed in their commencement lest they become stale. The Wisconsin Judicial Council believed that Wis. Stat. § 968.15 provided a reasonable period in which to commence the execution of a warrant, so that warrants would "not be held by an officer and served at his whim." Judicial Council Note, 1969, § 968.15. And when interpreting what makes the execution of a search warrant timely, this Court approved the idea that time limits are proper solely "to lessen the possibility that the facts upon which probable cause was initially based do not become dissipated." *Edwards*, 98 Wis. 2d at 372 (quoting *Bedford*, 519 F.2d at 655).

The Council note and *Edwards* are both concerned with police executing warrants "at leisure." *Id.* Drachenberg does not claim that the affidavit used to obtain the warrant did not state probable cause. Drachenberg no longer maintains his argument that probable cause had dissipated before the warrant was executed. (Drachenberg Br. 5 n.1.) He does not argue that probable cause dissipated before the seized items were analyzed. Indeed, Detective Parks swore in his affidavit to obtain the search warrant that digital evidence of child pornography persists in ways that forensic examination can detect, even long after being deleted. (R. 23:4.) This strongly suggests that probable cause had not and could not dissipate before analyzing the seized computer.

Page 31 of 37

Therefore, this case is entirely unlike *Popenhagen*, where the State's action circumvented the objective of the statute. There, the district attorney completely disregarded the proper statutory section to obtain the evidence he sought. *Popenhagen*, 309 Wis. 2d 601, ¶ 10. In *Popenhagen*, the district attorney used an incorrect procedure and never demonstrated probable cause. *Popenhagen*, 309 Wis. 2d 601, ¶ 7-10. As a result, the subpoena was defective *ab initio*. *Id*. ¶ 141 (Ziegler, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part.) Here, the State followed the correct procedure to obtain a valid warrant. (R. 19:21; 23:17.)

The supreme court considered a similar issue in *State* ex rel. Arnold v. County Court of Rock County, on which Popenhagen relied. State ex rel. Arnold v. Cnty. Ct. of Rock *Cnty.*, 51 Wis. 2d 434, 443, 187 N.W.2d 354 (1971); Popenhagen, 309 Wis. 2d 601, ¶¶ 59-62. In Arnold, the sheriff's department, with the consent of the other party to Arnold's phone calls, intercepted and recorded several calls without Arnold's knowledge. Arnold, 51 Wis. 2d at 436–37. The supreme court held that this violated the Wisconsin Electronic Surveillance Control law. Id. at 439. In order to electronically eavesdrop, police were required to apply to the circuit court for an order authorizing interception, which required a showing of probable cause. Id. at 440–41. The supreme court noted that the recordings obtained against Arnold, while "not unlawful," were not "authorized" under the statute, and therefore not admissible into evidence. Id. at 442.

The Arnold court considered the objective of the electronic surveillance law to be the protection of people's right to privacy. *Id.* at 442. The court found that allowing evidence obtained by one party's consent, rather than by following the application process and a showing of probable cause, would render the electronic surveillance law's protections and safeguards "for naught." *Id.* at 443.

Here, Detective Parks followed the correct procedure to obtain a warrant, and obtained a warrant based upon probable cause. (R. 19:21; 23:17.) This is not a case where the warrant was void *ab initio*. The warrant was valid when issued; it was valid when the police went onto Drachenberg's property and seized his computer; and it was valid when Detective Parks filed a return listing the items seized.

Law enforcement executed and returned the warrant within five days. (R. 19:21.) Within three days, police went onto Drachenberg's property, found his computer, seized it, and removed it for further inspection. (R. 19:21.) This is consistent with the spirit and objective of section 968.15, because this is not a case where law enforcement sat on the warrant and executed it capriciously. Suppression is therefore not warranted.

B. While a statutory violation may lead to suppression, suppression is not warranted unless the violation affected the defendant's substantial rights.

# 1. Suppression is not a remedy absent a violation of substantial rights.

Section 968.22 provides that: "[n]o evidence seized under a search warrant shall be suppressed because of technical irregularities not affecting the substantial rights of the defendant." Wis. Stat. § 968.22. Case law demonstrates that "substantial rights" is linked to prejudice. *See Popenhagen*, 309 Wis. 2d 601, ¶¶ 120–25 (Prosser, J., concurring).

For instance, substantial rights are violated when police fail to sign and swear to the truth of an affidavit in support of a search warrant. *State v. Tye*, 2001 WI 124, ¶ 19, 248 Wis. 2d 530, 636 N.W.2d 473. Our supreme court held that an oath is a matter of substance and required by the

Page 33 of 37

Fourth Amendment. *Id.* The oath or affirmation reminds the officer and the magistrate of the solemnity of the process, and it protects the target by creating liability for perjury or false swearing. *Id.* "An oath preserves the integrity of the search warrant process and thus protects the constitutionally guaranteed fundamental right of people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures." *Id.* 

By contrast, the 48-hour time period for returning warrants after execution under Wis. Stat. § 968.17 was "ministerial [in] nature and . . . there [wa]s nothing in the record that the rights of the defendant were in any way prejudiced." *State v. Meier*, 60 Wis.2d 452, 459–60, 210 N.W.2d 685 (1973). Similarly, the failure to file a transcript of search warrant testimony within five days after the execution of a search warrant as required by section 968.17(2) was deemed a technical irregularity under section 968.22, and the supreme court found that there was no prejudice to the defendant. *State v. Elam*, 68 Wis. 2d 614, 620, 229 N.W.2d 664 (1975).

An incorrect address on the face of a warrant—where the warrant was executed upon the correct address—was also found to be a technical irregularity that "did not affect any substantial right of" the defendant. *State v. Nicholson*, 174 Wis. 2d 542, 549, 497 N.W.2d 791 (Ct. App. 1993). Nor are substantial rights violated when the face of a warrant incorrectly identified the defendant's car, but the affidavit correctly described the color, make, model, style, and license plate three times. *State v. Rogers*, 2008 WI App 176, ¶ 15, 315 Wis. 2d 60, 762 N.W.2d 795.

Finally, inadvertent failure to record an application for a warrant done by telephone did not prejudice the defendant because the search warrant was based in probable cause and the circuit court promptly took steps to re-create the application. *State v. Raflik*, 2001 WI 129, ¶ 57, 248 Wis. 2d 593, 636 N.W.2d 690.

The supreme court has previously held that "substantial rights were [not] violated by . . . officers' failure to execute and return [a] warrant within 5 days after the date of issuance" when the execution of the warrant was done reasonably. Sveum, 328 Wis. 2d 369, ¶ 71. The court reasoned that "the officers' use of the GPS device for 35 days was reasonable and, therefore, the lack of a return to the circuit court in five days did not violate Sveums substantial rights." Id. (emphasis added). It was reasonable because Sveum's stalking was ongoing and a search to obtain evidence of stalking "could not have been completed in a single day." Id. ¶ 67. The court held that when failure to comply with sections 968.15 and 968.17 does not prejudice a defendant's substantial rights, the effect of the error is cabined by section 968.22, which does not permit suppression. Id. ¶ 72.

### 2. On the record before the Court, Drachenberg cannot show prejudice to his substantial rights.

There are no constitutional defects with the warrant,<sup>10</sup> and Drachenberg cannot show that it was executed unreasonably, so he cannot show any prejudice to a substantial right. Indeed, since he did not address this issue in his brief, he has forfeited the issue on appeal. *See A.O. Smith Corp. v. Allstate Ins. Cos.*, 222 Wis. 2d 475, 491, 588 N.W.2d 285 (Ct. App. 1998) ("[A]n issue raised in the [circuit] court, but not raised on appeal, is deemed abandoned.").

The affidavit for the warrant states probable cause, was validly attested to, and was notarized. (R. 19:15–17, 18–20.) That makes this entirely unlike *Tye*, where the lack of oath or

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  Drachenberg has waived his constitutional challenges. (Drachenberg Br. 5 n.1.)

attestation was fatal to the warrant. Tye, 248 Wis. 2d 530, ¶ 19.

If section 968.15(1) does require further testing and analysis to be completed within the statute's five-day time frame, a violation of that section makes this case closer to *Sveum*, which endorsed searches that take longer than five days, but which are still performed reasonably, considering the "complex, ongoing nature" of the underlying crime. *Sveum*, 328 Wis. 2d 369, ¶¶ 64–67.

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